FILED March 4, 2016

Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 73542-0-I

DIVISION ONE
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
JOHN VELEZMORO,
Appellant.
PEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE TE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY
The Honorable John Chun, Judge
AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JENNIFER WINKLER Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court erred in ordering the appellant to pay restitution absent a showing of but-for causation of harm.
- 2. The court erred in ordering a restitution amount based on speculation and conjecture.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in awarding restitution absent a showing that the losses would not have accrued "but for" the appellant's acts?
- 2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in entering a restitution amount that appears to have been plucked from the ether?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged John Velezmoro with first degree possession of depictions of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct¹ between April

¹ Under RCW 9.68A.070:

⁽¹⁾⁽a) A person commits the crime of possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct in the first degree when he or she knowingly possesses a visual or printed matter depicting a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct as defined in RCW 9. 68A.011(4) (a) through (e).

⁽b) Possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct in the first degree is a class B felony punishable under chapter 9A.20 RCW.

9 and May 21, 2013. CP 1-13. He later pleaded to the second degree of that offense after the State reduced the charge. CP 14-48; Supp. CP ____ (sub no. 40, amended information). The charge was reduced because it had been determined that Velezmoro was amenable to treatment. RP 2. The court sentenced Velezmoro to three months of incarceration and ordered restitution in an amount "to be determined." CP 51.²

Among the images found in Velezmoro's possession were seven images of a child victim known to the National Center for Missing and Exploited children as "Vicky." RP 3; CP 60 (State's restitution memorandum). Vicky, now in her 20s, acting through a Washington

⁽c) For the purposes of determining the unit of prosecution under this subsection, each depiction or image of visual or printed matter constitutes a separate offense.

⁽²⁾⁽a) A person commits the crime of possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct in the second degree when he or she knowingly possesses any visual or printed matter depicting a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct as defined in RCW 9.68A.011(4) (f) or (g).

⁽b) Possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct in the second degree is a class C felony punishable under chapter 9A. 20 RCW.

⁽c) For the purposes of determining the unit of prosecution under this subsection, each incident of possession of one or more depictions or images of visual or printed matter constitutes a separate offense.

² In the plea agreement, Velezmoro agreed to pay restitution "to include medical and counseling expenses." CP 41.

attorney, sought \$5,000 in restitution from Velezmoro for losses based simply on his possession of the images. CP 60-65 (State's restitution memorandum); CP 68-398 (documents considered for restitution hearing, submitted by Vicky's attorney Carol Hepburn).

In seeking restitution, Vicky's attorney relied primarily on a case from the United States Supreme Court, Paroline v. United States, ____ U.S. ____, 134 S. Ct. 1710, 188 L. Ed. 2d 714 (2014). The case involved similar facts³ but dealt with a specialized federal statute requiring restitution in the context of offenses involving the sexual exploitation of children, including offenses related to child pornography.⁴ The attorney acknowledged that the general Washington restitution statute allows recovery for a narrower category of losses than does the federal statute, but she nonetheless argued the court should order restitution. CP 70.

The attorney initially requested \$5,000 from Velezmoro in a February 24, 2015 letter to Velezmoro's attorney. CP 69. The letter explains the request as follows:

Our request is for an apportioned amount of Vicky's documented economic losses, which are documented at

³ Paroline pleaded guilty to possessing between 150 and 300 images of child pornography, which included two that depicted a single child, "Amy," who, as an adult, sought restitution from Paroline under the special federal restitution statute. <u>Paroline</u>, 134 S. Ct. at 1716.

⁴ 18 U.S.C. § 2259, attached as Appendix A.

\$246,658.00. This is comprised of \$113,600.00 in counseling expenses, \$20,148.00 in educational and vocational counseling needs, and \$112,910.00 in lost earnings. . . . We believe that Mr. Velezmoro should contribute \$5,000.00 to the costs of her recovery.

CP 69. The larger amounts were based on the legal theory that, due to Vicky's emotional disturbance from the knowledge that her images continued to be circulated, she required ongoing mental health counseling. CP 72. These psychological effects had negatively affected her secondary and post-secondary education and delayed her entry into the work force. Moreover, she argued, the emotional disturbance could affect her future earning prospects. CP 69-70, 73-79. The letter asserts that Velezmoro is part of the "global market" for child pornography, CP 79, but does not claim the Vicky was specifically aware of the charges against Velezmoro. CP 73-77.

Vicky's attorney also submitted a letter to the court on April 29, 2015. CP 83. The letter acknowledges that Velezmoro had argued that

Attached to the attorney's letters were victim impact statements submitted by Vicky and her family in previous, unrelated, cases (CP 130-45); a series of psychological evaluations assessing the impact of Vicky's psychological disturbances on her ability to function in school and in the workplace, including the most recent April 2014 evaluation (CP 147-228); a "vocational assessment" relying on the psychological evaluations (CP 245-58); an economist's estimate of Vicky's past and future lost wages through retirement assuming she continued on her chosen career path (CP 265-308); examples from online fora indicating the "Vicky" series of images continued to be a topic of prurient interest online (CP 321-74); and finally, two separate copies of the <u>Paroline</u> case (CP 91-128, 376-98).

only post-offense losses should be considered, that is, losses incurred after April of 2013. The attorney calculates a total of \$183,819.00 for counseling costs and lost wages. CP 83-84. The letter then offers the following calculation to justify a continued request for \$5,000.00, the same amount requested in the initial letter:

If we compare the lesser [post-April 2013] figure of post offense counseling costs and post offense past lost wages allowable in Washington (\$183,819.00) to the larger figure allowable under [18 U.S.C. § 2259] (\$1,084,053.29) the pro rata amount is 17%. Applying this to [the amount of restitution Vicky had received to date, or \$692,548.94] yields an amount of \$117,733.32 having been received against the Washington restitution amount[6] and net losses of \$66,085.68 remaining to be compensated.

CP 84.

The court conducted a hearing on restitution on May 1, 2015. At the hearing, the State argued \$5,000 in restitution should be imposed but largely deferred to attorney Hepburn. RP 3.

Hepburn argued that the court should follow the causation rationale espoused in the <u>Paroline</u> case, RP 10, and that \$5,000 was a "reasonable" figure, reiterating calculations set forth in the letters. RP 3-5, 12.

⁶ As argued below, nothing in the letter explains why the fact that a Washington court might, under different circumstances, allow such an amount makes this a relevant figure. Clearly, no single perpetrator was the sole cause of the harm, and not everyone who has viewed or may view the images is from Washington.

In contrast, Velezmoro's attorney argued that "causation" was determined in a different manner under the federal restitution statute and the State had failed to show a "but-for" causal connection, required by Washington law, between Velezmoro's crime and any losses. RP 5-7, 9. He argued, moreover, that lost wages claimed were akin to future lost wages, prohibited under State v. Lewis, 57 Wn. App. 921, 791 P.2d 250 (1990). RP 6. In addition, Vicky had already received over \$600,000 in restitution, which more than covered her counseling expenses, most of which had, in any event, been covered by medical insurance. RP 8-9.

The parties agreed, however, that there was no Washington case involving identical facts. RP 12-13.

The court stated that it agreed with Hepburn's arguments that Velezmoro was part of a global internet "marketplace" that created a demand for child pornography. The court therefore ordered the amount of restitution requested by Vicky's attorney. RP 13-14. Velezmoro's

⁷ In <u>Lewis</u>, the victim, Primacio, was killed in a car crash. <u>Lewis</u>, 57 Wn. App. at 922. This Court held that the Washington restitution statute did not authorize the award of a lump sum payment of \$50,000 for the future earnings of Primacio. <u>Id</u>. at 922-23. The amount was not "easily ascertainable" because an award of lost future earnings typically requires expert testimony and must take into account such factors as the victim's "health, life expectancy, job security, possibilities for advancement, and the appropriate discount and inflation factors for determining the present value of the future wages." <u>Id</u>. at 924. Moreover, because the legislature used the past tense in the language "lost wages," the restitution statute only applied to wages "already incurred." <u>Id</u>. at 926.

attorney questioned the court regarding how it had arrived at the \$5,000 figure. RP 13. The court responded that Vicky still had uncompensated costs but acknowledged "[m]athematically precise, it's not." RP 14.

Velezmoro timely appeals. CP 399-403.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ORDERING RESTITUTION ABSENT A SHOWING OF BUT-FOR CAUSATION AND IN SETTING A RESTITUTION AMOUNT BASED ON SPECULATION AND CONJECTURE.

A court may impose restitution only as authorized by statute. State v. Enstone, 137 Wn.2d 675, 679, 974 P.2d 828 (1999). RCW 9.94A.753(3) provides that restitution "shall be based on easily ascertainable damages for injury to or loss of property." While the claimed loss "need not be established with specific accuracy," it must be supported by "substantial credible evidence." State v. Griffith, 164 Wn.2d 960, 965, 195 P.3d 506 (2008) (quoting State v. Fleming, 75 Wn. App. 270, 274-75, 877 P.2d 243 (1994)). Evidence supporting restitution is sufficient if it provides a reasonable basis for estimating loss and does not require the court to base its award on speculation or conjecture. Griffith, 164 Wn.2d at 965. If a defendant disputes the restitution amount, the State

⁸ RCW 9.94A.753, the applicable restitution statute, is attached as Appendix B.

must prove the amount by a preponderance of the evidence. <u>State v. Kinneman</u>, 155 Wn.2d 272, 285, 119 P.3d 350 (2005).

A trial court's order of restitution will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. Enstone, 137 Wn.2d at 679. Application of an incorrect legal analysis or other error of law, however, constitutes an abuse of discretion. Kinneman, 155 Wn.2d at 289. A court also abuses its discretion when it resolves a matter on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State v. Ring, 134 Wn. App. 716, 719, 141 P.3d 669 (2006) (citing Enstone, 137 Wn.2d at 679-80). This Court may not invoke the permissive doubling provision under RCW 9.94A.753(3) to uphold an otherwise erroneous restitution amount. Griffith, 164 Wn.2d at 966.

a. "Vicky" is not entitled to recovery under the Washington restitution statute because, unlike under the federal statute, "but-for" causation is required.

Absent a defendant's express agreement to pay more, restitution is allowed only for losses "causally connected" to the crime the accused was actually convicted of. State v. Tobin, 161 Wn.2d 517, 524, 166 P.3d 1167 (2007) (quoting Kinneman, 155 Wn.2d at 286); State v. Thomas, 138 Wn. App. 78, 82, 155 P.3d 998 (2007); State v. Woods, 90 Wn. App. 904, 908, 953 P.2d 834 (1998). For restitution to be permitted under the statute, the State must establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the victim's loss would not have occurred "but for" the crime in question.

State v. Harris, 181 Wn. App. 969, 974, 327 P.3d 1276 (2014) (citing Thomas, 138 Wn. App. at 82), review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1031 (2015). "But for" causation, or "cause in fact," means that the act in question produced consequences in a direct unbroken sequence which would not have resulted had the act not occurred. Hertog, ex rel. S.A.H. v. City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 282-83, 979 P.2d 400 (1999). The necessary causal connection is not established simply because the victim or his or her insurer can submit a list of specific expenditures. State v. Dedonado, 99 Wn. App. 251, 257, 991 P.2d 1216 (2000).

Here, there is no evidence before the court that "Vicky" was aware of Velezmoro's possession of her image or that he interacted with the producer of the images. See CP 73, 79-80 (generic discussion, in Hepburn letter, of harms suffered by Vicky); RP 5 (Velezmoro's attorney's assertion, not contradicted by Hepburn, that Vicky was not specifically aware of Velezmoro's conduct). There was also no evidence that, had Vicky been aware of *Velezmoro's* possession of her image, she would have experienced the distress described in the materials. As a result, the State failed to demonstrate that Velezmoro's specific crime of possessing the images in April and May of 2013 was a cause in fact of Vicky's distress, or of any resulting economic losses.

<u>Paroline</u>, which the sentencing court seems have relied upon, is of no assistance to the State. In <u>Paroline</u>, based on similar facts, the Supreme Court stated that the federal restitution statute permitted recovery of a portion of—but not all of—a victim's total losses. As Vicky's attorney argued below, the Supreme Court required a causal link between the crime and the loss. However, the attorney failed to point out that the <u>Paroline</u> Court eschewed a stricter but-for causation requirement:

The traditional way to prove that one event was a factual cause of another is to show that the latter would not have occurred "but for" the former. This approach is a familiar part of our legal tradition, . . . and no party disputes that a showing of but-for causation would satisfy § 2259's factual-causation requirement. Sometimes that showing could be made with little difficulty. For example, but-for causation could be shown with ease in many cases involving producers of child pornography, see § 2251(a); parents who permit their children to be used for child-pornography production, see § 2251(b); individuals who sell children for such purposes, see § 2251A; or the initial distributor of the pornographic images . . . , see § 2252.

Paroline, 134 S. Ct. at 1725-26.

⁹ The <u>Paroline</u> Court explicitly rejected the victim's claim that each possessor of images could be held liable for the full amount of loss under the federal statute:

The reality is that the victim's suggested approach would amount to holding each possessor of her images liable for the conduct of thousands of other independently acting possessors and distributors, with no legal or practical avenue for seeking contribution.

In this case, however, a showing of but-for causation cannot be made.

<u>Paroline</u>, 134 S. Ct. at 1722 (emphasis added). The Court nonetheless determined that some recovery should be permitted under the statute based on an "alternative" and "less demanding" theory of causation:

[A]lternative causal tests are a kind of legal fiction or construct. If the conduct of a wrongdoer is neither necessary nor sufficient to produce an outcome, that conduct cannot in a strict sense be said to have caused the outcome. Nonetheless, tort law teaches that alternative and less demanding causal standards are necessary in certain circumstances to vindicate the law's purposes.

Paroline, 134 S. Ct. at 1724.

<u>Paroline</u> is of no assistance to the State because it interprets a specialized federal statute with an alternative concept of causation. In other words, although <u>Paroline</u> is a Supreme Court decision, it did not purport to set forth a mandatory, nationwide minimum causation standard for cases of this type. The trial court here was operating under the Washington statute, which requires something distinct. <u>See State v. Davison</u>, 116 Wn.2d 917, 919, 809 P.2d 1374 (1991) (court's authority to impose restitution derives entirely from statute).

Because the State has not proven but-for causation, a necessary prerequisite to recovery under the general Washington restitution statute, the restitution order must be reversed. <u>Harris</u>, 181 Wn. App. at 974.

b. The amount imposed by the court is the result of speculation and conjecture.

Evidence supporting restitution is sufficient only if it provides a reasonable basis for estimating loss and does not require the court to base its award on speculation or conjecture. <u>Griffith</u>, 164 Wn.2d at 965.

Vicky's attorney identifies a total purporting to represent Vicky's uncompensated losses, or \$66,085.68, and asserts \$5,000 is a reasonable share of this uncompensated amount. This "calculation" does not withstand scrutiny. Rather, \$66,085.68 is a number that was, essentially, plucked from thin air.

Vicky's attorney represents that \$66,085.68 is derived from the total allowable restitution in Washington, or \$183,819.00. But nothing in the letter explains how the latter figure relates to the actual economic harm Vicky suffered. Clearly, not all internet consumers of such images are from Washington. It is equally clear that no single possessor of the images, Washingtonian or otherwise, caused Vicky's emotional distress. Thus, it is unclear why only Washingtonians would be responsible for this entire amount.

¹⁰ As Vicky's attorney explained, Vicky has received \$692,548.94 in restitution from other jurisdictions but has sought restitution in only one other Washington proceeding. RP 13. The outcome and details of that case are not apparent from the record.

The reasoning for the "pro rata" calculation is equally opaque. If Vicky has already been fully compensated for the harms allowable under the Washington statute, why does it make sense to hold a Washingtonian responsible for a proportion of uncompensated losses under the federal statute? The calculation propounded by Vicky's attorney, and therefore the State, not only compares apples and oranges, it creates a virtual fruit salad of juxtaposition.¹¹

The random and speculative nature of the request is made even more transparent by the fact that the figure remains the same in the February and April letters, despite Vicky's attorney's apparent acknowledgment that the overall claim should be reduced based on the restitution framework in Washington.

In addition, although Vicky's attorney argued that her restitution claim was permissible based on <u>Paroline</u>, neither Vicky's attorney, nor the State, nor the court made any attempt to engage in the sort of calculation

At least one federal court has, moreover, expressed skepticism as to whether Vicky's calculation of total harm was realistic given that it failed to give sufficient weight to the ongoing impact of her initial abuse. <u>United States v. Dunn</u>, 777 F.3d 1171, 1181-82 (10th Cir. 2015) ("We think it inconsistent with "the bedrock principle that restitution should reflect the consequences of the defendant's own conduct" to hold Mr. Dunn accountable for those harms initially caused by Vicky's abuser.") (citing Paroline, 134 S. Ct. at 1725).

required by that decision. 134 S. Ct. at 1728 (listing factors to be considered by federal district court in setting restitution). 12

Washington case law interpreting our state's restitution statute does not allow for such a speculative award. For example, in <u>Griffith</u>, burglars broke into Robert and Elaine Linscott's home and stole jewelry and other items. The Linscotts reported the theft and provided police a detailed list of the stolen items, along with their estimated values, which totaled \$44,000. 164 Wn.2d at 963.

The day after the burglary was reported, Griffith entered a Spokane coin dealer with plastic bags containing jewelry, including a string of

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