FILED April 28, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 73542-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN VELEZMORO,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JOHN H. CHUN

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONALD J. PORTER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS

Defendant John B. Velezmoro was charged by information with Possession of Depictions of a Minor Engaged in Sexually Explicit Conduct in the First Degree. CP 1. The charged offense date covered the period from April 9, 2013, through May 21, 2013. <u>Id.</u> He pled guilty to a reduced charge of Possession of Depictions of a Minor Engaged in Sexually Explicit Conduct in the Second Degree. CP 29, 14-28. The guilty plea included a provision obligating Velezmoro to pay restitution "to include medical and counseling expenses." CP 41. The trial court sentenced Velezmoro to a standard-range sentence of three months in custody, community custody, and financial obligations to include restitution in an amount to be determined at a subsequent hearing. CP 51-52.

At the restitution hearing, "Vicky," a pseudonym for an identified minor victim depicted in images possessed by Velezmoro, was represented by private attorney Carol Hepburn. RP¹ 1. The State and Vicky's attorney requested restitution in the amount of \$5000. RP 4, 13. In support of the requested restitution, Vicky's attorney submitted substantial documentation, including, *inter alia*, victim impact letters from Vicky, her

¹ The verbatim report of trial court proceedings is a single-volume transcript of the restitution hearing, referred to in this brief as RP ___.

mother, and her stepfather (CP 131-44), psychological evaluation reports diagnosing Vicky with post-traumatic stress disorder resulting from her victimization and documenting the need for counseling (CP 148-77), and an economist's calculation of lost wages (CP 265-83). Ms. Hepburn argued that the requested amount, \$5000, was not for the full amount of documented losses, but rather "a reasonable apportionment" for which Velezmoro, as one of the possessors of the pornographic images of Vicky, should be accountable. RP 4.

Velezmoro's attorney argued that Washington courts require "but for" causation for an award of restitution, and that the State could not show that Vicky's damages would not have occurred "but for" Velezmoro's possession of her images, since an untold number of other persons also, presumably, had possessed and viewed the same images. RP 5-9. Vicky's attorney countered that the causation issue had been resolved by a recent United States Supreme Court opinion² interpreting a federal restitution statute, and argued that because of the unique circumstances of the crime of possession of child pornography, "but for" causation wasn't required to support a restitution award. RP 10-11. The trial court agreed and imposed the requested \$5000 in restitution. RP 13; CP 66-67.

² Paroline v. United States, U.S. , 134 S. Ct. 1710, 188 L. Ed. 2d 714 (2014).

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

In his plea agreement, Velezmoro stipulated that the facts set forth in the certification for probable cause were real and material facts for purposes of sentencing. CP 41. That document establishes the following:

A Kirkland Police detective received a report from the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC) indicating that Microsoft had reported an upload of over 1000 files containing child pornography to its cloud-based storage, SkyDrive. CP 30. The report showed that the upload had come from an IP address associated with John Velezmoro. <u>Id.</u> A detective viewed "a large amount of the uploaded photos" and believed them to depict illegal child pornography, including boys and girls appearing to be 10-14 years old engaged in different acts of sexual intercourse. CP 30-31.

In response to a search warrant, Microsoft provided investigators with the content of Velezmoro's SkyDrive account. CP 37. From that content, investigators submitted 1191 files to the NCMEC, which generated a report indicating that 121 of the files included "identified child" content.³ CP 37. A laptop computer seized at Velezmoro's residence contained evidence of the child pornography uploads to the

³ "Identified child" is defined as exact hash values that are associated with an image or video that appears to depict at least one child previously identified by law enforcement. CP 31.

SkyDrive account; the uploads occurred between April 8, 2013, and May 20, 2013. CP 38. All 121 of the "identified child" files had been uploaded from Velezmoro's computer. <u>Id.</u>

In an interview with detectives, Velezmoro claimed to have found a flashdrive that contained child pornography (still images and videos), and admitted that he had uploaded the content to his Microsoft account in SkyDrive. CP 34-35. He said that after he had done so, Microsoft had closed his account and sent him a message indicating he had violated rules. <u>Id.</u> Velezmoro admitted that he had looked at pornographic images of children and that he knew it was illegal to possess such material. <u>Id.</u> He also admitted that he visited websites that provided "stories" involving children, and that he used these "stories" in conjunction with the pornographic images of children for his sexual stimulation. CP 35.

The forensic examination of Velezmoro's computer also showed that the content had been uploaded to the computer from a USB flashdrive on April 8, 2013. CP 38. Examiners were able to determine that the same flashdrive had also been used to upload child pornography to computers seized in other Kirkland Police child pornography investigations in 2009 and 2011. CP 38-39.

Eight of the images found in Velezmoro's possession were identified as part of the "Vicky" series. CP 72. Images of Vicky's sexual

- 5 -

abuse were recorded specifically for distribution on the internet. CP 73. She was forced to hold a sign up to the intended viewers inviting them to "Come and Play." <u>Id.</u> Much of Vicky's sexual abuse was a direct response to "orders" for scripted videos of rape, sodomy, costuming, and bondage placed with her abuser by the pedophiles who downloaded and traded her images. <u>Id.</u> She was forced to perform according to a script made at the request of other pedophiles. <u>Id.</u> The abuse was not separate and apart from the making of the videos, but was done in order to make the videos. <u>Id.</u>

The direct sexual abuse Vicky suffered lasted from the time she was about 5 until she was 13. CP 154. Vicky's abuser, her father, is in prison serving a 50-year sentence. CP 79. When Vicky was 17 she learned that her sexual abuse was disseminated over the internet, and she has since come to learn that the images are some of the most widely distributed images of child pornography in the world. CP 155. Vicky has developed a hypervigilance which causes her to suspect that any person she may see or meet might have downloaded and derived prurient enjoyment from the images of her abuse. CP 74. Her psychologist has

- 6 -

described the continued downloading of her images as "a form of psychological acid drip" on her well-being.⁴ CP 74.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY ORDERING RESTITUTION WITHOUT A SHOWING OF "BUT FOR" CAUSATION.

Velezmoro claims that restitution may not be ordered without a showing of "but for" causation, i.e., a direct causal link between a defendant's criminal acts and a victim's injuries. Velezmoro argues that because "Vicky" did not know that he had possessed and viewed her images, she could not have experienced any compensable injury from his criminal actions. His argument should be rejected. Although this appears to be a case of first impression in Washington, the United States Supreme Court recently held that because of the unique circumstances of the crime of possession of child pornography, courts may impose restitution without a "but for" causal connection. It was, therefore, appropriate for the trial court to require that Velezmoro pay restitution even though he is only one of some unknown number of criminals who have viewed the exploitative images of Vicky.

The authority to impose restitution is not an inherent power of the court, but is derived from statutes. State v. Gray, 174 Wn.2d 920, 924,

⁴ For a complete history, diagnoses, and symptoms, see the April 11, 2014, report of clinical psychologist Randall L. Green, Ph.D. CP 148-69.

280 P.3d 1110 (2012); State v. Davison, 116 Wn.2d 917, 919, 809 P.2d

1374 (1991). The controlling statute here reads, in relevant part:

(5) Restitution shall be ordered whenever the offender is convicted of an offense which results in injury to any person or damage to or loss of property or as provided in subsection (6) of this section unless extraordinary circumstances exist which make restitution inappropriate in the court's judgment and the court sets forth such circumstances in the record. In addition, restitution shall be ordered to pay for an injury, loss, or damage if the offender pleads guilty to a lesser offense or fewer offenses and agrees with the prosecutor's recommendation that the offender be required to pay restitution to a victim of an offense or offenses which are not prosecuted pursuant to a plea agreement.

RCW 9.94A.753(5); see State v. Blanchfield, 126 Wn. App. 235,

240, 108 P.3d 173, review denied, 155 Wn.2d 1020 (2005).

One goal of restitution is to require the defendant to face the consequences of his conduct. <u>State v. Enstone</u>, 137 Wn.2d 675, 680, 974 P.2d 828 (1999); <u>State v. Dauenhauer</u>, 103 Wn. App. 373, 378, 12 P.3d 661 (2000), <u>review denied</u>, 143 Wn.2d 1011 (2001). The statute is designed to promote respect for the law by providing punishment that is just. <u>Davison</u>, 116 Wn.2d at 922. Restitution is both punitive and compensatory in nature. <u>State v. Kinneman</u>, 155 Wn.2d 272, 279-80,

119 P.3d 350 (2005). Appellate courts review interpretation of

RCW 9.94A.753 de novo.⁵ <u>State v. Chapman</u>, 176 Wn. App. 615, 309 P.3d 669 (2013).

Under RCW 9.94A.753(5), a restitution order must be grounded on the existence of a causal relationship between the crime charged and proven and the victim's damages. State v. Griffith, 164 Wn.2d 960, 965, 195 P.3d 506 (2008); Davison, 116 Wn.2d at 919. Some decisions state the rule that losses are causally connected if, "but for" the charged crime, the victim would not have incurred the loss. Griffith, 164 Wn.2d at 966; State v. Tobin, 161 Wn.2d 517, 524, 166 P.3d 1167 (2007); State v. Oakley, 158 Wn. App. 544, 552, 242 P.3d 886 (2010). However, no cases cited by Velezmoro stand for the proposition that "but for" causation is always required by RCW 9.94A.753(5) regardless of the factual circumstances. Moreover, the United State Supreme Court, in analyzing a similar restitution statute, has held that because of the unique circumstances of the crime of possession of child pornography, "but for" causation is not required to support an award of restitution. Paroline v. United States, U.S. __, 134 S. Ct. 1710, 1727, 188 L. Ed. 2d 714 (2014).

⁵ The decision of the trial court to impose restitution under the statute is reviewed de novo. However, the trial court's determination of the amount of restitution awarded, addressed in the next argument section, is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>State v.</u> <u>Enstone</u>, 137 Wn.2d 675, 679, 974 P.2d 828 (1999).

In <u>Paroline</u>, when the victim was eight or nine, she was sexually abused by her uncle in order to produce child pornography. <u>Id</u>. at 1717. Her uncle was prosecuted, required to pay restitution, and sentenced to a lengthy prison term. <u>Id</u>. The victim underwent an initial course of therapy and, with the support of her family, an "optimistic assessment" was justified. <u>Id</u>. But her functioning appeared to decline in her teenage years; a major blow to her recovery came when, at the age of 17, she learned that images of her abuse were being trafficked on the internet. <u>Id</u>. Paroline is one of the individuals who possessed this victim's images. <u>Id</u>. He pled guilty in federal court to one count of possession of material involving the sexual exploitation of children in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2252. <u>Id</u>. Paroline admitted to possessing between 150 and 300 images of child pornography, only two of which depicted this known victim. <u>Id</u>. at 1717-18.

The <u>Paroline</u> victim sought restitution pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2259 for lost income and treatment and counseling expenses. <u>Id.</u> at 1718. The parties submitted competing expert reports and stipulated that the victim did not know who Paroline was and that none of her claimed losses flowed from any specific knowledge about him or his offense conduct. <u>Id.</u> The federal district court declined to award restitution, finding that the Government had failed in its "burden of proving the

- 10 -

amount of the victim's losses 'directly produced by Paroline that would not have occurred without his possession of her images."" <u>Id.</u> at 1718 (citation omitted). The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed, holding not only that restitution was appropriate, but also that restitution was not limited to losses proximately caused by the defendant, and each defendant who possessed the victim's images should be made liable for the victim's entire losses from the trade in her images, even though other offenders played a role in causing those losses. <u>Id.</u> at 1718 (citing <u>In re Amy</u> <u>Unknown</u>, 701 F.3d 749, 772-74 (5th Cir. 2012) (en banc)).

The Supreme Court granted review for the purposes of determining the entitlement to and amount of restitution under the federal statute. <u>Id.</u> at 1718. The <u>Paroline</u> Court addressed at considerable length the challenges in determining both proximate cause and cause in fact in cases involving the crime of possession of child pornography, where many wrongdoers have contributed to a victim's harm. First the Court discussed, generally, the concepts of proximate and actual cause:

> As a general matter, to say one event proximately caused another is a way of making two separate but related assertions. First, it means the former event caused the latter. This is known as actual cause or cause in fact. ...The idea of proximate cause, as distinct from actual cause or cause in fact, defies easy summary. It is "a flexible concept," that generally "refers to the basic requirement that ... there must be 'some direct relation

1604-10 Velezmoro COA

- 11 -

between the injury asserted and the injurious conduct alleged."

Paroline, 134 S. Ct. at 1719 (citations omitted).

Referring to damages caused by possession of child pornography as an "atypical causal process," the Court addressed the very issue present in the case at bar, determining the responsibility of a single defendant among many offending parties.

The difficulty is in determining the "full amount" of those general losses, if any, that are the proximate result of the offense conduct of a particular defendant who is one of thousands who have possessed and will in the future possess the victim's images but who has no other connection to the victim.

<u>Paroline</u>, at 1722. The Court stated that "the most difficult aspect of this inquiry concerns the threshold requirement of causation in fact." <u>Id.</u>

The Court recognized the "but for" test as the most common approach to establish cause in fact: "The traditional way to prove that one event was a factual cause of another is to show that the latter would not have occurred 'but for' the former." <u>Id.</u> The Court said that "but for causation could be shown with ease" in cases involving producers and distributors of child pornography. <u>Id.</u> But the Court recognized the inadequacy of the "but for" test in cases involving mere possession of child pornography.

- 12 -

[I]t is not possible to prove that [the victim's] losses would be less (and by how much) but for one possessor's individual role in the large, loosely connected network through which her images circulate. Even without Paroline's offense, thousands would have viewed and would in the future view the victim's images, so it cannot be shown that her trauma and attendant losses would have been any different but for Paroline's offense. That is especially so given the parties' stipulation that the victim had no knowledge of Paroline.

Id. at 1723 (citation to record omitted). The Court therefore rejected the

"but for" test, saying that a "less demanding causal standard" was

necessary under the circumstances. Id. at 1724.

It would be anomalous to turn away a person harmed by the combined acts of many wrongdoers simply because none of those wrongdoers alone caused the harm. And it would be nonsensical to adopt a rule whereby individuals hurt by the combined wrongful acts of many (and thus in many instances hurt more badly than otherwise) would have no redress, whereas individuals hurt by the acts of one person alone would have a remedy.

Id. at 724. The Court turned to tort principles for the proper cause in fact

test in these circumstances:

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